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DECISION

The Board of Private Investigator Examiners (“the Board”) does not have cause to deny Ricky Gurley’s private investigator license on grounds that he committed acts in violation of Federal law.  
Procedure


On April 21, 2010, Gurley filed a complaint challenging the Board’s denial of his application for licensure.  The Board filed an answer on May 21, 2010.  Gurley filed an amended complaint (styled “second amended petition to appeal agency decision denying licensure”) on June 22, 2010, and the Board filed an answer to that pleading on July 9, 2010.  We held our hearing on September 13, 2010.  Gurley was represented by Jay Barnes, Esq., while the Board was represented by Assistant Attorney General Daryl Hylton.  The case became ready for our decision on November 12, 2010, when the last brief was due.
Findings of Fact

1. Gurley had been practicing as a private investigator since 2003.

2. On or about November 20, 2009, Gurley published, in a blog titled, “All About Mike Martin,”
 personal information concerning Martin’s wife that was obtained from State of Missouri driver records.

3. On or about December 20, 2009, Gurley published, in the same blog, personal information concerning an employee of the Columbia Tribune that was also obtained from State of Missouri driver records.
4. Gurley purchased the driver record information from a third party.

5. Gurley published the information about these individuals because of personal differences he had with Martin and the Tribune employee.

6. Gurley was never charged with violation of the Driver’s Privacy Protection Act.

7. Gurley applied to the Board for licensure as a private investigator on or about March 24, 2010.
8. The Board denied Gurley’s application on April 13, 2010.  The grounds alleged for such denial are that Gurley disclosed driver license information in violation of the Driver’s Privacy Protection Act, and failed to disclose that he had previously been refused a bail bondsman’s license.
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction of the complaint.
  Gurley has the burden of proving that the law entitles him to a license.
  The Board denied licensure to Gurley in part because of his alleged 
violation of the Driver’s Privacy Protection Act.  Section 2721(b) of said act provides in relevant part:
Permissible uses.--Personal information referred to in subsection (a) shall be disclosed for use in connection with matters of motor vehicle or driver safety and theft, motor vehicle emissions, motor vehicle product alterations, recalls, or advisories, performance monitoring of motor vehicles and dealers by motor vehicle manufacturers, and removal of non-owner records from the original owner records of motor vehicle manufacturers to carry out the purposes of titles I and IV of the Anti Car Theft Act of 1992, the Automobile Information Disclosure Act (15 U.S.C. 1231 et seq.), the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 7401 et seq.), and chapters 301, 305, and 321-331 of title 49, and, subject to subsection (a)(2), may be disclosed as follows:
*   *   *

(8) For use by any licensed private investigative agency or licensed security service for any purpose permitted under this subsection. 

Section 2721(c) provides in relevant part:

Resale or redisclosure.--An authorized recipient of personal information (except a recipient under subsection (b)(11) or (12)) may resell or redisclose the information only for a use permitted under subsection (b) (but not for uses under subsection (b) (11) or (12)). 

Section 2722(a) provides:

Procurement for unlawful purpose.--It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly to obtain or disclose personal information, from a motor vehicle record, for any use not permitted under section 2721(b) of this title.
Section 2725(3) defines “personal information” as follows:
“[P]ersonal information” means information that identifies an individual, including an individual's photograph, social security number, driver identification number, name, address (but not the 5-digit zip code), telephone number, and medical or disability information, but does not include information on vehicular accidents, driving violations, and driver's status.
Section 2723(a) provides:

Criminal fine.--A person who knowingly violates this chapter shall be fined under this title.
How the Board May (Perhaps) Refuse Licensure for a Regulatory Violation
Regulation 20 CSR 2234-7.010(2)(E)1 requires private investigators to “obey all criminal laws—federal, state, and local.”  Section 324.1112(1) gives the Board the power to refuse licensure to an applicant who “[h]as committed any act which, if committed by a licensee, would be grounds for the suspension or revocation of a license under the provisions of sections 324.1100 to 324.1148[.]”  Section 324.1134.1 and .2(3) give the Board the power to suspend or refuse to renew a license for “[v]iolating any rule of the board of private investigator examiners adopted under the authority contained in sections 324.1100 to 324.1148.”  These laws, read in sequence, seem to lead inescapably to the conclusion that a private investigator who violates a criminal law, regardless of which sovereign promulgated it, can be refused licensure.

We Cannot Apply the Regulation Because it is Invalid
While we do not have the authority to declare regulations or statutes invalid,
 rules must have statutory authority in order to be valid.
  Also, Section 324.1138 provides that “The [B]oard shall adopt such rules and regulations as may be necessary to carry out the provisions of sections 324.1100 to 324.1148.”  (Emphasis added.)  If we follow the Board’s argument, however, the statutory authority to discipline derives from the regulation, not the other way around. 

When we look beyond the four corners of the regulation, as we are charged with doing,
 we find that it lacks the requisite statutory support.  Where we find that a regulation is invalid, 
we do not apply it, but apply the underlying statute instead, if one exists.
  The Board has failed to show that Regulation 20 CSR 2234-7.010(2)(E)1 was necessary to carry out any of the provisions of §§ 324.1100-324.1148, or otherwise has any statutory authority.  And, there is no underlying statute for which licensure could be denied in this case, under the facts as presented and argued by the parties.
Gurley’s conduct may be grounds for discipline under a recent amendment to § 324.1128.1,
 which provides in relevant part:

[A] licensee shall not divulge to any other person, except as required by law, any other information acquired by the licensee at the direction of his or her employer or client for whom the information was obtained.
The amendment, however, only became effective October 12, 2010. Therefore, this statute does not apply here. 
Other Arguments of the Parties
Because we dispose of the complaint on the grounds stated above, Gurley’s other arguments are moot, and we therefore make no findings thereon.  We note that Gurley alleged that his actions were protected by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Having raised that argument, he may argue it before the courts if necessary.
  Also, the Board alleges in its answer that Gurley’s application failed to disclose that in 2003 he had applied to the Department of Insurance for licensure as a bail bondsman and that application had been denied. The Board, however, adduced no evidence in support of this allegation and did not brief the issue, so we consider the allegation to be waived.  We also do not reach the issue of whether Gurley violated the Driver’s Privacy Protection Act.
Summary


The Board has no cause to deny Gurley a private investigator license on grounds that he violated a criminal statute.

SO ORDERED on December 14, 2010.


________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR. 


Commissioner
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